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HISTORY 
Tempe’s growth since its beginning in 1870 is most conveniently viewed as a series of 
developmental periods which correspond to both local and national economic and political 
trends.  In the Settlement Period (1870~1887), Tempe evolved from a small river crossing site 
into a recognizable town with distinct residential, commercial, and farming areas.  The 
Development Period (1888~1909), was a time of organization, land speculation, and major 
growth stimulated by the Tempe Land and Improvement Company, by arrival of the railroad, 
and by establishment of the Territorial Normal School.  The Growth Period (1909~1930), saw 
the completion of Roosevelt Dam, Arizona statehood, tremendous expansion of the agricultural 
economy, increased development of subdivisions, of city services, of the Normal School, and of 
transportation systems.  The Post-Automobile Period (1930~1945), was marked by increasing 
automobile ownership and the introduction of air conditioning in the late 1920s.  These 
conveniences changed the form of residential development during this period of slow but steady 
growth and would set the stage for the rapid expansion of the community following World War II.  
Broad patterns established during each of these historic periods remain visible today amidst the 
contemporary suburban fabric of Tempe.1

 
Tempe emerged from its settlement period in the summer of 1887 when the Tempe Land 
and Improvement Company purchased most of Charles Trumbull Hayden’s lands as well as 
those of the Mormon colonists in West Tempe.  These purchases were brought about 
primarily by the completion of the Maricopa and Phoenix Railroad which passed through the 
Tempe agricultural district north to the Salt River which it crossed just west of Hayden’s 
Ferry.  The railroad established Tempe as the major east valley shipping point and the 
economic potential of the community was significantly broadened.2   
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The Tempe Land and Improvement Company was formed for promotion and development 
of the Tempe townsite and through sale of lots to precipitate another railroad boomtown.  
George N. Gage (1842-1913) was one of the most important figures associated with this 
early period of Tempe development.  As Secretary of the Tempe Land and Improvement 
Company, Gage was most directly responsible for implementing the promotion and 
development of the Tempe townsite for the community’s first real period of growth.  The 
company surveyed and laid out the townsite in blocks and lots for sale.  A real estate firm 
was engaged to promote the sale of land.  Advertising pamphlets and a colorful panoramic 
map by C. J. Dyer were prepared to enhance the prospects of settlers and investors.3 4

 
Plans laid out by the Tempe Land and Improvement Company at the end of the 19th Century 
envisioned residential development extending south to 13th Street, but decades later, less 
than half of the land within the town limits had been developed for anything other than 
farming.  A boom at the turn of the century spurred the first growth of early neighborhoods 
such as Gage Addition, but the economic hardships of the 1920s and 30s slowed 
construction to just a few new homes each year.  For a brief period, more people left Tempe 
than came.5

 
George N. Gage was 67 when, along with L. W. Blinn (1842-1928), he recorded the 
subdivision plat for the 80 acre Gage Addition in 1909.  This was to be the last substantial 
undertaking of the Tempe Land and Improvement Company and of Gage’s real estate 
development career.  Failing health caused him to relocate with his family to Los Angeles, 
California that same year where in 1913 he passed away at the age of 71.  With Gage gone 
and Blinn now in California focusing on his lumber and banking businesses, development of 
the original Tempe Land and Improvement Company holdings south of the Gage Addition 
became the venture of one of Tempe’s most productive pioneer businessmen and 
politicians, Hugh E. Laird (1882-1970).6 7

 
With optimism and intrepidity perhaps formed in the wake of Tempe Land and Improvement 
Company Capitalists removal to California, local entrepreneurs Hugh Laird and Fred J Joyce 
(1881-1967) filed organization papers with the County Recorder for the Park Tract Trust, a 
business trust organized for acquisition, subdivision, and development of real property on 
March 24, 1920.  From the onset, the vision of Park Tract was to provide comfortable and 
modern family houses to meet demand for a growing population.8   
 
The 1920s opened with great economic promise in Tempe.  The thriving Tempe Cotton 
Exchange was ginning thousands of bales of long-staple Pima cotton for use in the 
manufacture of automobile tires.  Construction was booming and Tempe’s population was 
nearing 2,000 when the post-war collapse of the cotton market in 1920 spawned a Valley-
wide economic downturn.  As agriculture slowly diversified in response to cotton prices, the 
Tempe economy began a slow recovery throughout the 1920s until, on September 21, 1929, 
voters opted to retire the town charter and reorganize as the City of Tempe.  The 
reorganization boosted community optimism and self-esteem.  Hugh Laird was elected to be 
the first mayor of the City of Tempe.  Although a measure of prosperity returned to Tempe in 
the late 1920s, the onset of the Great Depression slowed growth and economic expansion 
until the post-war boom of the mid 1940s.9

 
Broad patterns of community history portrayed by the evolution of these three subdivisions 
demonstrate Tempe’s transition from its agricultural origins, through its educational 
preeminence within the Valley, and on to the diverse and thriving metropolitan city it has 
become today. 
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LOCATION 
The Gage Addition, Park Tract, and College View subdivisions are adjacent to and south of 
downtown Tempe, adjacent to and west of the main campus of Arizona State University, 
and adjacent to and east of the Union Pacific Railroad right-of-way.  Together, these 
subdivisions describe the boundaries of the 1986 Maple-Ash Neighborhood Association 
which includes 338 households mostly built between 1900's - 1950's, extending from 
University Drive to Hudson Lane and from the railroad  to Mill Avenue.10 11

 
The 1909 Gage Addition subdivision includes 68 lots and 5 parcel fragments totaling 
approximately 15 net acres in the area bounded by University Drive, Mill Avenue, 10th Street, 
and the Union Pacific Railroad right-of-way in the northwest quarter of Section 22N.   
 
The 1924 Park Tract subdivision includes 105 lots and 1 parcel fragment totaling approximately 
27 net acres in the area bounded by 10th Street, Mill Avenue, 13th Street, and the Union Pacific 
Railroad right-of-way in the northwest quarter of Section 22N.   
 
The 1945 College View subdivision includes 22 lots and 2 parcel fragments totaling 
approximately 8 net acres in the area roughly bound by 13th Street, Mill Avenue, and the Union 
Pacific Railroad right-of-way in the southwest quarter of Section 22N.   
 
 
CONDITION 
The Gage Addition, Park Tract, and College View subdivisions are adjacent to downtown 
Tempe, Arizona State University, and Tempe St. Luke's Hospital, each of which have exerted 
redevelopment pressure on the neighborhood at various times over the past hundred years.  
Although this neighborhood has seen changes, it has managed to survive and still retains 
sufficient integrity to convey its historic character.  The majority of properties are well maintained 
with historic landscapes intact and character-defining features present. 
 
The 1909 Gage Addition subdivision includes 1 property listed both in the Tempe Historic 
Property Register and the National Register of Historic Places, 5 properties listed in the National 
Register of Historic Places and 44 additional properties that are considered to be eligible to 
contribute to an historic district.  Gage Addition includes 5 vacant lots totaling approximately 
0.80 acres.  Vacant lots and fragment (unbuildable) parcels are excluded from the calculation of 
contributing properties.  79% (n=50) of the 63 built or buildable parcels in the Gage Addition 
subdivision are considered to be potential contributors to an historic district.12 13

 
The 1924 Park Tract subdivision includes 4 properties listed both in the Tempe Historic Property 
Register and the National Register of Historic Places, 1 property listed in the Tempe Historic 
Property Register and 92 additional properties that are considered to be eligible to contribute to 
an historic district.  Park Tract includes 3 vacant lots totaling approximately 1.2 acres.  Vacant 
lots and fragment (unbuildable) parcels are excluded from the calculation of contributing 
properties.  96% (n=97) of the 101 built or buildable parcels in the Park Tract subdivision are 
considered to be potential contributors to an historic district.14 15

 
The 1945 College View subdivision includes 14 properties that are considered to be eligible to 
contribute to an historic district.  College View includes 4 vacant lots totaling approximately 1.3 
acres.  Vacant lots and fragment (unbuildable) parcels are excluded from the calculation of 
contributing properties.  88% (n=14) of the 16 built or buildable parcels in the College View 
subdivision are considered to be potential contributors to an historic district.16 17
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AGE 
Platted over a 36-year period, and built out over a 50 year period, the Gage Addition, Park 
Tract, and College View subdivisions represent consecutive waves of residential development 
begun in response to both local and national economic and political trends.   
 
Residential and nonresidential structures within the area of the Gage Addition subdivision 
recommended for designation were built between 1888 and 1954, with 1932 being the median 
year-built value (74 years old) and 1929 the most frequently occurring construction date (4 
occurrences).  The Solliday Survey (2001) identified 63 lots in the Gage Addition and added 6 
properties built between 1950 and 1954, to the 44 properties previously identified as potentially 
contributing properties in the Tempe MRA (1997).  Solliday indicated 6 properties were not 
listed due to integrity.  He identified the average square footage of homes to be 1,500. 
 
Residential and nonresidential structures within the area of the Park Tract subdivision 
recommended for designation were built between 1900 and 1960, with 1940 being the median 
year-built value (66 years old) and 1940 the most frequently occurring construction date (16 
occurrences).  The Solliday Survey (2001) identified 100 lots in the Park Tract subdivision and 
added 17 properties built between 1948 and 1960, to the 80 properties previously identified as 
potentially contributing properties in the Tempe MRA (1997).  Solliday indicated 4 properties 
were not listed due to integrity.  He identified the average square footage of homes to be 1,250. 
 

Residential and nonresidential structures within the area of the College View subdivision were 
built between 1925 and 1996, with 1944 being the median age (62 years old) and 1945 the most 
frequently occurring construction date (7 occurrences).  The Solliday Survey (2001) identified 22 
lots in College View and added 2 properties built between 1946 and 1953, to the 14 properties 
previously identified as potentially contributing properties in the Tempe MRA (1997).  Solliday 
indicated 2 properties were not listed due to integrity.  He identified the average square footage 
of homes to be 1,950. 
 
SIGNIFICANCE 
The Gage Addition, Park Tract, and College View subdivisions encompass within their 
boundaries a collection of historic resources which are directly associated with the early growth 
and development of Tempe and the Salt River Valley.  The evolution of Tempe over the past 
135 years holds national, state, and local significance for its important role in the development 
of the Salt River Valley as a center of commerce and education, as a critical link in the 
transportation networks during the settlement of the Territory, and for its associations with 
important political figures.  Tempe’s unique heritage is exemplified in its significant residential 
architecture and infrastructure, as exist today in the Gage Addition, Park Tract, and College 
View subdivisions. 
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Gage Addition 
Tempe’s proven stability during the two decades after 1888 culminated with a period of 
prosperity in the early 1900s.  Growth fluctuated but steadily increased for the two decades at 
the turn of the century, and in 1909, George N. Gage opened 80 acres south of University on 
either side of the Tempe Normal School (now ASU) for development as the Gage Addition.  This 
was the first major urban expansion of the original Tempe settlement and marked the beginning 
of Tempe’s first real period of growth and development lasting from 1909 and 1930.  Gage 
Addition was opened in response to the housing needs of a growing population and originally 
extended east from the railroad right-of-way to Willow (College) Avenue, and south from Eighth 
(University Drive) to Tenth Streets.  The twenty year period from 1909 to 1930 also witnessed 
the creation or extension of city services, dramatic expansion of the Territorial Normal School, 
improvements in transportation systems and roadways, and reorganization of the canal system 
under the jurisdiction of the Salt River Valley Water Users Association.  The Gage Addition 
Historic District is significant as one of the oldest surviving neighborhoods in Tempe.  Opened at 
the onset of the Growth Period (1909~1930), this area contains some of Tempe’s oldest 
surviving homes interspersed with newer houses dating to the 1940s and '50s.18   
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Park Tract 
Park Tract is an early "suburban" residential subdivision that was platted by Hugh Laird and 
Fred J Joyce, April 10, 1924, on behalf of the Park Tract Trust and in response to a housing 
shortage in the City.  The subdivision was designed to provide comfortable and modern family 
houses, influencing some of Tempe’s prominent citizens to purchase lots and have their homes 
built here.  Development of the subdivision began in the 1930s on 100 lots in the area roughly 
bound by 10th Street, Mill Avenue, 13th Street, and Union Pacific Railroad tracks.  Park Tract 
experienced peak construction from 1928 to 1930.  A second boom of activity occurred in the 
late 1930s and the neighborhood was almost completely built out shortly after World War II.   
 
Hugh Laird came to Tempe with his family in 1888 at the age of 5 years.  His residency in 
Tempe continued until his death in 1970.  During that time his business and public service 
career included 60 years as a registered pharmacist, 66 years as owner of Laird and Dines 
Drug Store, twelve years as Tempe postmaster and two terms as a representative in the state 
legislature.  Perhaps his most outstanding contribution to the local politics was his 32 years of 
service on the Tempe City Council, including 14 of those years as Mayor.  During the period 
from 1930 to 1962, Tempe’s population rose from 2,500 to 25,000 and the town saw substantial 
growth far beyond its anticipated boundaries, especially after the close of World War II.  Policies 
generated during Laird’s lengthy tenure on the City Council did much to shape the present 
environment and image of modern Tempe.  Park Tract platted in 1924 has a very high degree of 
overall integrity and represents an early "suburban" residential subdivision platted in response 
to a shortage of housing in Tempe.19
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College View 
The plat for the College View subdivision was filed by E. W. & May Hudson and Byrnes L. & 
Anna Belle Darden on 18 Jan 1945.  Development of Tempe in the 1930s kept pace with the 
slow local and national economy until the onset of World War II, when dramatic changes in the 
historic pattern of growth and development signaled the end of the community’s agricultural 
basis and the beginning of its role as a suburb within the greater metropolitan region.  College 
View is emblematic of this post-war phenomenon.  There was very little building activity in 
Tempe during World War II, but three new subdivisions were platted by early 1945.  Building 
materials and permits were still nearly impossible to obtain, but people were eagerly anticipating 
the end of the war and were looking forward to returning to peacetime life.  College View was 
located outside of city limits, at the southwestern edge of the city.  The City Council recognized 
the urgent need for new housing in Tempe and immediately annexed the tract on December 14, 
1944.   
 
College View was developed by E. W. Hudson (1881~1972) and Kenneth Clark (1907~2006).  
Hudson, the agricultural scientist who developed Pima long-staple cotton, was a longtime cotton 
grower and cattle rancher.  He wanted to sell off some of his vast land holdings in the area.  
Clark, a realtor and owner of Kenneth Clark Insurance Agency, handled the sale of lots.  He had 
served a term on the City Council in the 1930s, and typically dealt with real estate in the 
downtown business district.  When Dr. R. J. Stroud built the first home in what would become 
the new College View subdivision at Mill Avenue and 13th Street, there were already six homes 
dating to the 1920s and 30s in the area that was included in the plat.  Shortly after Stroud 
completed his home in late 1944, Hudson filed a subdivision plat and began sales of lots 
through Clark's agency.  This subdivision of 18 lots extended Ash Avenue one block south to 
Hudson Lane. 20   
 
Although College View was not platted until 1945, a residential neighborhood actually existed 
here much earlier.  Homes from the 1920s and 30s still exist within the subdivision boundaries. 
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	The Tempe Land and Improvement Company was formed for promotion and development of the Tempe townsite and through sale of lots to precipitate another railroad boomtown.  George N. Gage (1842-1913) was one of the most important figures associated with this early period of Tempe development.  As Secretary of the Tempe Land and Improvement Company, Gage was most directly responsible for implementing the promotion and development of the Tempe townsite for the community’s first real period of growth.  The company surveyed and laid out the townsite in blocks and lots for sale.  A real estate firm was engaged to promote the sale of land.  Advertising pamphlets and a colorful panoramic map by C. J. Dyer were prepared to enhance the prospects of settlers and investors.   
	Plans laid out by the Tempe Land and Improvement Company at the end of the 19th Century envisioned residential development extending south to 13th Street, but decades later, less than half of the land within the town limits had been developed for anything other than farming.  A boom at the turn of the century spurred the first growth of early neighborhoods such as Gage Addition, but the economic hardships of the 1920s and 30s slowed construction to just a few new homes each year.  For a brief period, more people left Tempe than came. 
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	With optimism and intrepidity perhaps formed in the wake of Tempe Land and Improvement Company Capitalists removal to California, local entrepreneurs Hugh Laird and Fred J Joyce (1881-1967) filed organization papers with the County Recorder for the Park Tract Trust, a business trust organized for acquisition, subdivision, and development of real property on March 24, 1920.  From the onset, the vision of Park Tract was to provide comfortable and modern family houses to meet demand for a growing population.   
	The 1920s opened with great economic promise in Tempe.  The thriving Tempe Cotton Exchange was ginning thousands of bales of long-staple Pima cotton for use in the manufacture of automobile tires.  Construction was booming and Tempe’s population was nearing 2,000 when the post-war collapse of the cotton market in 1920 spawned a Valley-wide economic downturn.  As agriculture slowly diversified in response to cotton prices, the Tempe economy began a slow recovery throughout the 1920s until, on September 21, 1929, voters opted to retire the town charter and reorganize as the City of Tempe.  The reorganization boosted community optimism and self-esteem.  Hugh Laird was elected to be the first mayor of the City of Tempe.  Although a measure of prosperity returned to Tempe in the late 1920s, the onset of the Great Depression slowed growth and economic expansion until the post-war boom of the mid 1940s. 
	Broad patterns of community history portrayed by the evolution of these three subdivisions demonstrate Tempe’s transition from its agricultural origins, through its educational preeminence within the Valley, and on to the diverse and thriving metropolitan city it has become today.
	 LOCATION
	The Gage Addition, Park Tract, and College View subdivisions are adjacent to and south of downtown Tempe, adjacent to and west of the main campus of Arizona State University, and adjacent to and east of the Union Pacific Railroad right-of-way.  Together, these subdivisions describe the boundaries of the 1986 Maple-Ash Neighborhood Association which includes 338 households mostly built between 1900's - 1950's, extending from  
	University Drive to Hudson Lane and from the railroad  to Mill Avenue.   
	The 1909 Gage Addition subdivision includes 68 lots and 5 parcel fragments totaling approximately 15 net acres in the area bounded by University Drive, Mill Avenue, 10th Street, and the Union Pacific Railroad right-of-way in the northwest quarter of Section 22N.  
	The 1924 Park Tract subdivision includes 105 lots and 1 parcel fragment totaling approximately 27 net acres in the area bounded by 10th Street, Mill Avenue, 13th Street, and the Union Pacific Railroad right-of-way in the northwest quarter of Section 22N.  
	The 1945 College View subdivision includes 22 lots and 2 parcel fragments totaling approximately 8 net acres in the area roughly bound by 13th Street, Mill Avenue, and the Union Pacific Railroad right-of-way in the southwest quarter of Section 22N.  
	CONDITION
	The Gage Addition, Park Tract, and College View subdivisions are adjacent to downtown Tempe, Arizona State University, and Tempe St. Luke's Hospital, each of which have exerted redevelopment pressure on the neighborhood at various times over the past hundred years.  Although this neighborhood has seen changes, it has managed to survive and still retains sufficient integrity to convey its historic character.  The majority of properties are well maintained with historic landscapes intact and character-defining features present.
	The 1909 Gage Addition subdivision includes 1 property listed both in the Tempe Historic Property Register and the National Register of Historic Places, 5 properties listed in the National Register of Historic Places and 44 additional properties that are considered to be eligible to contribute to an historic district.  Gage Addition includes 5 vacant lots totaling approximately 0.80 acres.  Vacant lots and fragment (unbuildable) parcels are excluded from the calculation of contributing properties.  79% (n=50) of the 63 built or buildable parcels in the Gage Addition subdivision are considered to be potential contributors to an historic district.   
	The 1924 Park Tract subdivision includes 4 properties listed both in the Tempe Historic Property Register and the National Register of Historic Places, 1 property listed in the Tempe Historic Property Register and 92 additional properties that are considered to be eligible to contribute to an historic district.  Park Tract includes 3 vacant lots totaling approximately 1.2 acres.  Vacant lots and fragment (unbuildable) parcels are excluded from the calculation of contributing properties.  96% (n=97) of the 101 built or buildable parcels in the Park Tract subdivision are considered to be potential contributors to an historic district.   
	The 1945 College View subdivision includes 14 properties that are considered to be eligible to contribute to an historic district.  College View includes 4 vacant lots totaling approximately 1.3 acres.  Vacant lots and fragment (unbuildable) parcels are excluded from the calculation of contributing properties.  88% (n=14) of the 16 built or buildable parcels in the College View subdivision are considered to be potential contributors to an historic district.   
	AGE
	Platted over a 36-year period, and built out over a 50 year period, the Gage Addition, Park Tract, and College View subdivisions represent consecutive waves of residential development begun in response to both local and national economic and political trends.  
	Residential and nonresidential structures within the area of the Gage Addition subdivision recommended for designation were built between 1888 and 1954, with 1932 being the median year-built value (74 years old) and 1929 the most frequently occurring construction date (4 occurrences).  The Solliday Survey (2001) identified 63 lots in the Gage Addition and added 6 properties built between 1950 and 1954, to the 44 properties previously identified as potentially contributing properties in the Tempe MRA (1997).  Solliday indicated 6 properties were not listed due to integrity.  He identified the average square footage of homes to be 1,500.
	Residential and nonresidential structures within the area of the Park Tract subdivision recommended for designation were built between 1900 and 1960, with 1940 being the median year-built value (66 years old) and 1940 the most frequently occurring construction date (16 occurrences).  The Solliday Survey (2001) identified 100 lots in the Park Tract subdivision and added 17 properties built between 1948 and 1960, to the 80 properties previously identified as potentially contributing properties in the Tempe MRA (1997).  Solliday indicated 4 properties were not listed due to integrity.  He identified the average square footage of homes to be 1,250.
	Residential and nonresidential structures within the area of the College View subdivision were built between 1925 and 1996, with 1944 being the median age (62 years old) and 1945 the most frequently occurring construction date (7 occurrences).  The Solliday Survey (2001) identified 22 lots in College View and added 2 properties built between 1946 and 1953, to the 14 properties previously identified as potentially contributing properties in the Tempe MRA (1997).  Solliday indicated 2 properties were not listed due to integrity.  He identified the average square footage of homes to be 1,950.
	SIGNIFICANCE
	The Gage Addition, Park Tract, and College View subdivisions encompass within their boundaries a collection of historic resources which are directly associated with the early growth and development of Tempe and the Salt River Valley.  The evolution of Tempe over the past 135 years holds national, state, and local significance for its important role in the development of the Salt River Valley as a center of commerce and education, as a critical link in the transportation networks during the settlement of the Territory, and for its associations with important political figures.  Tempe’s unique heritage is exemplified in its significant residential architecture and infrastructure, as exist today in the Gage Addition, Park Tract, and College View subdivisions.
	 
	Gage Addition
	Tempe’s proven stability during the two decades after 1888 culminated with a period of prosperity in the early 1900s.  Growth fluctuated but steadily increased for the two decades at the turn of the century, and in 1909, George N. Gage opened 80 acres south of University on either side of the Tempe Normal School (now ASU) for development as the Gage Addition.  This was the first major urban expansion of the original Tempe settlement and marked the beginning of Tempe’s first real period of growth and development lasting from 1909 and 1930.  Gage Addition was opened in response to the housing needs of a growing population and originally extended east from the railroad right-of-way to Willow (College) Avenue, and south from Eighth (University Drive) to Tenth Streets.  The twenty year period from 1909 to 1930 also witnessed the creation or extension of city services, dramatic expansion of the Territorial Normal School, improvements in transportation systems and roadways, and reorganization of the canal system under the jurisdiction of the Salt River Valley Water Users Association.  The Gage Addition Historic District is significant as one of the oldest surviving neighborhoods in Tempe.  Opened at the onset of the Growth Period (1909~1930), this area contains some of Tempe’s oldest surviving homes interspersed with newer houses dating to the 1940s and '50s.   
	 
	Park Tract
	Park Tract is an early "suburban" residential subdivision that was platted by Hugh Laird and Fred J Joyce, April 10, 1924, on behalf of the Park Tract Trust and in response to a housing shortage in the City.  The subdivision was designed to provide comfortable and modern family houses, influencing some of Tempe’s prominent citizens to purchase lots and have their homes built here.  Development of the subdivision began in the 1930s on 100 lots in the area roughly bound by 10th Street, Mill Avenue, 13th Street, and Union Pacific Railroad tracks.  Park Tract experienced peak construction from 1928 to 1930.  A second boom of activity occurred in the late 1930s and the neighborhood was almost completely built out shortly after World War II.  
	Hugh Laird came to Tempe with his family in 1888 at the age of 5 years.  His residency in Tempe continued until his death in 1970.  During that time his business and public service career included 60 years as a registered pharmacist, 66 years as owner of Laird and Dines Drug Store, twelve years as Tempe postmaster and two terms as a representative in the state legislature.  Perhaps his most outstanding contribution to the local politics was his 32 years of service on the Tempe City Council, including 14 of those years as Mayor.  During the period from 1930 to 1962, Tempe’s population rose from 2,500 to 25,000 and the town saw substantial growth far beyond its anticipated boundaries, especially after the close of World War II.  Policies generated during Laird’s lengthy tenure on the City Council did much to shape the present environment and image of modern Tempe.  Park Tract platted in 1924 has a very high degree of overall integrity and represents an early "suburban" residential subdivision platted in response to a shortage of housing in Tempe. 
	 
	College View
	The plat for the College View subdivision was filed by E. W. & May Hudson and Byrnes L. & Anna Belle Darden on 18 Jan 1945.  Development of Tempe in the 1930s kept pace with the slow local and national economy until the onset of World War II, when dramatic changes in the historic pattern of growth and development signaled the end of the community’s agricultural basis and the beginning of its role as a suburb within the greater metropolitan region.  College View is emblematic of this post-war phenomenon.  There was very little building activity in Tempe during World War II, but three new subdivisions were platted by early 1945.  Building materials and permits were still nearly impossible to obtain, but people were eagerly anticipating the end of the war and were looking forward to returning to peacetime life.  College View was located outside of city limits, at the southwestern edge of the city.  The City Council recognized the urgent need for new housing in Tempe and immediately annexed the tract on December 14, 1944.  
	College View was developed by E. W. Hudson (1881~1972) and Kenneth Clark (1907~2006).  Hudson, the agricultural scientist who developed Pima long-staple cotton, was a longtime cotton grower and cattle rancher.  He wanted to sell off some of his vast land holdings in the area.  Clark, a realtor and owner of Kenneth Clark Insurance Agency, handled the sale of lots.  He had served a term on the City Council in the 1930s, and typically dealt with real estate in the downtown business district.  When Dr. R. J. Stroud built the first home in what would become the new College View subdivision at Mill Avenue and 13th Street, there were already six homes dating to the 1920s and 30s in the area that was included in the plat.  Shortly after Stroud completed his home in late 1944, Hudson filed a subdivision plat and began sales of lots through Clark's agency.  This subdivision of 18 lots extended Ash Avenue one block south to Hudson Lane.    
	Although College View was not platted until 1945, a residential neighborhood actually existed here much earlier.  Homes from the 1920s and 30s still exist within the subdivision boundaries.
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